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EDITOR'S NOTE

‘When, at thirteen years of age, James Cook,
the son of a Yorkshire agricultural labourer,
was apprenticed to a haberdasher of Staithes,
it was doubtless considered that he was
* made for life.” But no account had been
taken of the sea whose hoarse murmurings
were doubtless heard in the little village shop.
Presently its call became persistent to the
boy ; the counter became an irksome barrier
between him and his desire to respond to its
enchantment. A quarrel with his master
afforded welcome opportunity to quit the
trade, and soon he sailed from Whitby bound
apprentice to the sea.

At twenty-seven came a longing for some-
thing more than coasting and Baltic voyages,
and he volunteered as able seaman for the
Navy. Infour years he was promoted master,
and after assisting at the capture of Quebec
he proved his scientific capabilities by sur-
veying and charting the estuary of the St.
Lawrence and the shores of Newfound-
land. In 1768, with a lieutenancy and the
command of the * Endeavour,” he took
out a scientific party to Tahiti to record the
transit of Venus. From that time the Pacific
and the South Seas were his special domain,
and the story of his voyages and discoveries
therein are recorded in this volume.

On June 25, 1776, Captain Cook sailed
away from the Nore on his last tragic veyage.
On St. Valentine’s Day, 1779, he was clubbed
to death on the shore of Hawaii. A centary
afterwards (1874) a monument was raised to
mark the spot where this intrepid sailor fell.
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FIRST VOYAGE OF DISCOVERY

ix H.M. BarQuE, * ENDEAVOUR,” 370 ToNs, COMPLEMENT 84.
UNDERTAKEN CHIEFLY WITH A VIEW OF OBSERVING i
THE TRANSIT OF VENUS OVER THE S8UN'S DISC,
AND ALSO OF EXPLORING THE SOUTH SEAS
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FIRST
VOYAGE OF DISCOVERY

DisTiNGUISHED as this country is, and ever has been, for
its able navigators, it acquires no inconsiderable accession
of fame from boasting of the name of Cook, whose three
principal voyages we are now about to detail in an unbroken
series. .

This able and most amiable man was born at Marton,
in Cleveland, a village about four miles from Great Ayton,
in Yorkshire, on the 27th of October, 1728. His father,
who lived in the humble station of a farmer’s servant,
married a woman in the same sphere of life with himself ;
and both were noted in their neighbourhood for their
honesty, sobriety, good conduct, and industry, qualities
which ever reflect a lustre on the humblest ranks.

‘When our navigator was about two years old, his father
removed to Great Ayton, and was appointed to superin-
tend a considerable farm known by the name of Airyholm,
belonging to Thomas Scottowe, Esq.

As the father long continued in this trust, the son
naturally followed the same employment, as far as his
tender years would admit. His early education appears
to have been slight; but at the age of thirteen we find
him placed under the tuition of one, Mr. Pullen, who
taught school at Ayton, where he learned the rudiments
of arithmetic and book-keeping, and is said to have shown
a remarkable facility in acquiring the science of numbers.

About the beginning of the'year 1745, when young
Cook was seventeen years old, his father bound him
apprentice to William Sanderson, for four years, to learn
the grocery and haberdashery business, at a place called
Snaith, a populous fishing town about ten miles from
‘Whitby, and while here, according to Mr. Sanderson’s
account, he displayed a maturity of judgment, and a
quickness in calculations far beyond his years. But as
he evinced a strong partiality for a maritime life (a pre-
dilection strengthened by the situation of the place, and
the company with which, perhaps, he associated), on some
trivial disagreement with his master, he obtained a release
from his engagements, after a year and a half’s servitude,
and determined to follow the bent of his own inclination.

In July, 1746, he was bound apprentice to Messrs.
Walker, of Whitby, for the term of three years, which

9



10 CAPTAIN COOK’S VOYAGES

he served to the full satisfaction of his employers. His
first voyage was on board the ship Freelove, of about
450 tons burden, chiefly employed in the coal trade from
Newcastle to London. ,

In May, 1748, he was ordered home to assist in rigging
and fitting for sea, a fine new ship; named the Three
Brothers, of 600 tons. This was designed to improve him
in ‘his profession, and to qualify him for a better berth,
when his apprenticeship should expire. After two coal
voyages in this vessel, she was taken into the service of
government, and sent as a transport to Middleburgh,
to convey some troops to Dublin. , These being landed
at their destination, another regiment was taken on board,
and brought to Liverpool. Thence the ship proceeded
to Deptford, where she was paid off in April, 1749. The
remaining part of the season, Cook served on board her
in the Norway trade.

Being honourably released from :his engagements, he
next entered on board a ship employed in the Baltic trade,
and during the two following years performed several
voyages of no great importance. In 1752, his old master
%romoted him to be mate of one of his ships, called the

riendship, in which capacity he acted for some time,
with so much credit to himself and satisfaction to his
owners, that it is said he was offered the place of captain.,
This, however, he declined, and fortunate indeed was it
for his country that he did so.

In the spring of 1755, hostilities commenced between
Great Britain and France ; press-warrants were issued,
and Cook, whose ship was then in the river Thames,
afraid of being pressed, resolved, if possible, to conceal
himself ; but afterwards, reflecting on the difficulty of
this course, he adopted the resolution of entering as a
volunteer in the Royal Navy, “ having a mind,” as he
expressed himself,  to try his fortune in that way.”

In pursuance of this design, he repaired to a house of
rendezvous at Wapping, and entered on board the Eagle, a
sixty gun ship, at that time commanded by Captain Hamer.
To this ship, Captain, afterwards Sir Hugh Palliser, being
appointed in October following, Cook’s diligence and atten-
tion to the duties of his profession did not escape the notice
of that intelligent commander, and he met with every en-
couragement compatible with his humble station.

Cook’s merit having been blazoned among his connections
and friends in his native country, some of them generously
interested themselves in his behalf; and procured a letter of
recommendation: to _his .captain from Mr. Osbaldeston,
member of parliament for Scarborough, in which it was
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requested that he would point out in what manner they
might possibly contribute to his promotion.

Captain Palliser did full justice to Cook’s character, and
suggested that a master’s warrant might perhaps be pro-
cured for him, by which. he would be put in a situation
suited to his talents, and be enabled to reflect credit on
those who honoured him with their patronage.

In consequence of this, interest was made for a master’s
warrant, which he obtained to theé Grampus sloop, in May
1759 ; but this appointment did not take place, as the
former master unexpectedly returned. In afew days, how-
ever, he was made master of the Garland ; but here too
he was disappointed, -for, on inquiry, it was found that the
ship had already sailed. At last he was appointed to the
Mercury, which was destined for North' America, under
the command of Sir Charles Saunders, who, in conjunction
with General Wolfe, was then engaged in the memorable
siege of Quebec.

During that signal transaction, it was found necessary
to obtain the soundings of the river St. Lawrence, directly
opposite to the French camp at Montmorency and Beau-
port. As this was universally esteemed to be a dangerous
and very difficult service, Cook’s well-known sagacity and
intrepidity recommended him to Captain Palliser for the
undertaking ; and notwithstanding the difficulties of having
to take the soundings during the night, to evade observa-
tion, Cook executed the task in the most complete manner,
and to the entire satisfaction of his superiors. For several
successive nights he carried on the work unmolested, but
at last he was discovered by the enemy, who sent a number
of canoes filled with Indians to surround him, and he had
no other alternative but to make for the Isle of Orleans,
where he was so closely pursued, that he had scarcely
leaped from the bow of the boat, before the Indians entered
by the stern, and carried her off in triumph.

There is little or no reason to believe that, before this
period, Cook had acquainted himself with the principles of
drawing ; but such was the vigour of his mind, and his
aptitude for the acquisition of knowledge, that he soon
mastered every subject to which he applied himself. And
notwithstanding thedisadvantages under which helaboured,
he presented the.admiral with as complete a draught of
the channel and its soundings as could have been furnished
by the most expert surveyor in more favoured circum-
‘stances.

Our navigator performed another service, not less im-
portant, and which redounds equally to his honour. The
navigation of the river St. Lawrence is both difficult and
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dangerous, and was then particularly so to the English,
who were strangers in that quarter. The admiral, there-
fore, who had conceived a very favourable opinion of Mr.
Cook’s abilities, appointed him to survey the river below
Quebec, which he also executed with the same diligence
and ability that he had displayed on the former
occasions.

This chart of the river, when completed, was published
with soundings and sailing directions; and so great was
the accuracy observed, that it superseded all other surveys
of the period.

After the conquest of Canada, so glorious to every person
who had a share in it, Mr. Cook was appointed master of
the  Northumberland, under Lord Colvill, on the 2nd of
September, 1759. In this ship his lordship continued the
following winter as commodore at Halifax; and Cook’s
conduct, in his new station, did not fail, as on former
occasions, to gain him the friendship and esteem of his
commander.

Sensible that he was now on the road to promotion, he
showed a laudable desire to qualify himself to adorn his
profession, by devoting his leisure hours to the study of
such branches of knowledge as would be serviceable to him
in after life. At Halifax he first read Euclid’s Elements,
and studied astronomy. The books he was able to procure
were few indeed ; but application and perseverance supplied
many deficiencies, and enabled him to make a progress,
which a man of less genius could not attain under much
superior advantages.

He received a commission on the 1st of April, 1760, and
daily advanced in the career of glory. In September, 1762,
he assisted at the re-capture of Newfoundland, after which
the English fleet remained some time at Placentia, in order
to put that place into a better state of defence. During
this period Mr. Cook had another opportunity of displaying
his diligence, and manifesting his zeal in the service of his
country ; he surveyed the harbour and heights of that
place, and, by this means, attracted the notice of Captain,
afterwards Admiral, Graves, who was at that time governor
of Newfoundland. Captain Graves having entered into
conversation with him, found him possessed of such intelli-
gence and judgment, that he conceived a very favourable
opinion of his general abilities, and particularly of his

* nautical skill; and in cultivating a longer acquaintance
with him, he was still more prepossessed in his favour.

Endowed with a vigorous and active mind, and stimu-
lated, perhaps, by the success that had attended his past
labours, and the hopes-of future promotion, Cook continued
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to display the most unremitting assiduity to make himself
acquainted with the North American coast, and to facilitate
its navigation; while the esteem which Captain Graves
had justly conceived for him was heightened by the con-
current testimonies of approbation freely paid to him by
all the officers under whom he had served.

Towards the close of 1762, Cook returned as lieutenant
to England, and on the 21st of December was married at
Barking in Essex to a young lady of the name of Batts,
whom he tenderly loved, and who had every claim to his
warmest affection and esteem. It is said that Cook had
been godfather to this lady, and that he declared at that
time his wish for their future union. If this anecdote is
true, it is a singular instance of the firmness of his char-
acter, and the strength of his attachment. His situation
in life, however, and the high and important services to
which he was called, did not suffer him to enjoy matrimonial
felicity without interruption ; and like all offieers of any
worth, his first thoughts were turned to his profession.

On the conclusion of the war in 1763, Captain Graves
was again sent out as governor of Newfoundland ; and as
that island was considered of great commercial importance,
and had been a principal object of contention between
Great Britain and France, the governor obtained, at his
pressing solicitation, an establishment for the survey of
its coasts; and Cook was appointed to carry this plan
into execution. He therefore went out with his friend the
governor ; and having surveyed the small islands of St.
Pierre and Miquelon, which by treaty had been ceded to
France, after the business was finished, he returned to
England at the close of the season.

In the beginning of the following year, 1764, he was
appointed Marine Surveyor of Newfoundland and Labrador,
and accompanied his former patron, Sir Hugh Palliser,
who had been nominated governor of Labrador and New-
foundland, and prosecuted his surveys of the coasts as
before.

For his employment, Cook was, by the unanimous voice
of the best judges, deemed extremely well qualified ; and
the charts which he afterwards published reflect the highest
credit on his abilities. He also explored the interior of
Newfoundland, in ‘a much more accurate manner than had
ever heen done before ; and by penetrating into the heart
of the country, discovered several large lakes, the position
of which he exactly ascertained. In this service he appears
to have been occasionally engaged till 1767. However,
we find him with Sir William Burnaby, on the Jamaica
station in 1765 ; ~and that officer having occasion to send
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despatches to the governor of. Yucatan, relative to the
log cutters in the Bay of Honduras, Licutenant Cook was
selected for that mission, and he performed it in a manner
that entitled him to the approbation of the admiral. A
relation of this voyage and journey was published in 1769,
under the title of ‘° Remarks on a Passage from the Rlver
Balise, in the Bay of Honduras, to Merida, the capital of
the Province of Yucatan, in the Spanish West Indies, by
Lieutenant Cook.”

That our nav1gator had by this time made a considerable
proficiency in practical astronomy, is evident from a short
paper, drawn up by him, which was inserted in the seventh
volume of the.Philosophical Transactions, entitled, ‘“ An
Observation of. an Eclipse of the Sun at:the Island of
Newfoundland, August 5th, 1766, with the Longitude of
the Place of Observatlon deduced from it.” This obser-
vation was made at one of the Burgeo islands, near Cape
Ray, in Igtitude 47°:-36’ 19" on the south-west extremity
of Newfoundland; and Cook’s paper having been com-
municated to Mr. Wltchell he compared it with an obser-
vation made on the same eclipse by Professor Hornsby,
and thence computed the difference of longitude of the
places of observation, makin g proper allowance for parallax,
and the prolate spheroidal figure of the earth. That Cook
was now counted an able mathematician, the admission
of this paper into the Philosophical Transactions, and the
notice that was taken of it, will sufficiently, verify.

It was reserved for the reign of George III. to carry the
spirit of enterprise to its fullest extent, and to direct it to
the accomplishment of the noblest purposes. As soon as
the return of peace gave an opportunity for promoting the
interests of science, by enlarging the bounds of discovery,
two voyages were projected by.the king, which were per-
formed by Captains Byron, Wallis, and Carteret; and
hefore. the two latter gentlemen returned, a third was
resolved upon, the principal object of which was the im-
provement of astronomy.

- It having been long before calculated that the planet
Venus would pass over the sun’s disk in 1769, a pheno-
menon of great importance to astronomy, -and which had
engaged. the attention of men of science, it was judged
that the most proper place for observing this phenomenon
would be either at the Marquesas, or at one of those islands
to ‘which Tasman had given.the several appellations of
Amsterdam, Rotterdam, and Middleburgh ; but which are
now better known under the general name of the Friendly
Isles. This being a matter of so much importance in the
science of astronomy, the Royal Society, with that laudable
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zeal they have ever shown for its advancement, presented
a memorial to his Majesty at the beginning of the previous
year, requesting, among other things; that a.vessel might
be fitted out at the expense of the government, to convey
proper persons to observe this transit at one of the places
already mentioned. 3

The petition being readily complied with, and orders
having been given by the Admiralty to provide a vessel for
that purpose, on the 3rd of April, 'Mr.- Stephens, the
secretary to the Board, informed the Society that every-
thing was progressing according to their wishes.

Mr. Dalrymple was originally fixed upon to superintend
this expedition : a man eminent in science, a member of the
Royal Society, and who had already greatly distinguished
hLimself respecting the geography of the Southern Ocean.
As this gentleman had been regularly bred to the sea, he
insisted (very properly too) on having a brevet commission,
as captain of the vessel, before he would ‘undertake the
employment. Sir Edward Hawke, (afterwards Lord
Hawke, a naval officer, and not a civilian), who then
presided at the Admiralty, violently opposed this measure ;
and being pressed on the subject, declared that nothing
could induce him to give his sanction to such a commission.

Both parties were inflexible; and it was therefore
thought expedient to look out for some other person to
conduct the expedition. Accordingly, Mr. Stephens having
recommended Lieutenant Cook, and this recommendation
being strengthened by the testimony of Sir Hugh Palliser,
who was well acquainted with Cook’s merits, and abilities
for the discharge of this office, he was appointed to this
distinguished post by the lords” commissioners, and pro-
moted to the rank of lieutenant of the royal navy on the
25th of May, 1768. He was now, be it remembered, close
upon forty years of age.

This appointment having taken place, Sir Hugh Palliser
was commissioned to provide a vessel adapted for such a
voyage. After examining a great number then lying in the
Thames, in conjunction with Cook, of whose judgment he
entertained the highest opinion, they at last fixed upon the
Endeavour, a barque of 370 tons, which had been built for
the coal trade.

In the interim, Captain Wallis having returned from his
voyage round the world, and having signified to the Royal
Society that Port Royal Harbour, in King George’s Island,
-now called Otaheite, would be the most convenient place for
observing the transit, his opinion was adopted, and the
observers were ordered to repair thither.

Mr. Charles Green, the coadjutor of Dr. Bradley, the
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astronomer royal, was nominated to assist Captain Cook in
<conducting the astronomical part of the undertaking ; and
he was accompanied also by Joseph Banks, Esq. (afterwards
Sir Joseph, the President of the Royal Society). This
friend of science possessed, at an early period of life, an
opulent fortune, and being zealous to apply it to the best
ends, embarked on this tedious and hazardous enterprise,
animated by the wish of improving himself, and enlarging
the bounds of knowledge. He took two draughtsmen with
him, and had likewise a secretary and four servants in his
retinue.

Dr. Solander, an ingenious and learned Swede, who had
been appointed one of the librarians in the British Museum,
and who was. particularly skilled as a disciple of Linneus,
and distinguished in his knowledge of natural history,
likewise joined the expedition. Possessed of the enthusiasm
with which Linnzus inspired his disciples, he braved danger
in the prosecution of his favourite studies, and being a man
of erudition and capacity, he added no small éclat to the
voyage in which he had embarged.

Though the principal intention of this expedition was to
observe the transit of Venus, it was thought proper to make
it comprehend other objects as well. Captain Cook was
therefore directed, after he had accomplished his main
business, to proceed in making further discoveries in the
South Seas, which now began to be explored with un-
common resolution.

The complement of the Endeavour consisted of eighty-
four persons. She was victualled for eighteen months, and
carried ten carriage and twelve swivel guns, with abundance
of ammunition : and all manner of stores were taken on
board. The following were the principal officers :—

‘“ ENDEAVOUR ”’ BARQUE.*

James Cook, appointed Lieutenant Commander, 25th May,
1768. !

Zachary Hicks, lieutenant.

John Gore.

Robert Molineux, master, died 15th April, 1771 ; succeeded
by Richard Pickersgill.

Charles Clerke, mate.

John Gathray, boatswain, died 4th February, 1771 ; suc-
ceeded 'by Samuel Evans.

Stephen Forward, gunner.

John Satterley, carpenter, died 12th February, 1771;
succeeded by George Nowell.

* Records, Admiralty, Whitehall.
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William B. Monkhouse, surgeon, died 5th November, 1770 ;
succeeded by William Perry.
Richard Orton, clerk.

Being completely fitted for sea, Captain Cook sailed from
Deptford on the 30th of July, 1768, and on the 13th of
August anchored in Plymouth Sound, from which, after a
few days’ stay, they proceeded to sea.

The first land they made, after their leaving the Channel,
was on the 2nd of September, when Cape Finisterre and
Cape Ortegal, in Spain, both came in view. They arrived
on the 13th at Madeira, and anchored in Funchal Roads.
Here unfortunately they lost Mr. Weir, the master’s mate,
who, in heaving the anchor, fell overboard and was drowned.
This island has a beautiful appearance from the sea, those
parts of hills which present themselves being covered with
vines. Nature has been very liberal in her gifts to Madeira.
The inhabitants are not without ingenuity, but they want
industry. The soil is so very rich, and there is such a
variety in the climate, that there is scarcely any article,
either of the necessaries or luxuries of life, which cannot
be cultivated. Pine-apples and mangoes grow almost
spontaneously, and great variety of fruit upon the hills.
Corn is also very large and plentiful.

Funchal is seated at the bottom of a bay ; it is indiffer-
ently built, and the streets are narrow, and wretchedly
paved. In the churches there are great numbers of orna-
ments, with pictures and images of saints, for the most part
mdlﬁerently executed.

They sailed from Madeira September 19th, and on the
23rd came insight of the Peak 6f Teneriffe. = This mountain
is nearly 15,400 feet high. On the 29th they sighted Bona
Vista, one' of the Cape de Verd Islands. From Teneriffe to
Bona Vista, flying fish were seen in considerable numbers,
which appeared very beautiful, their sides resembling
burnished silver. Mr. Banks, on the 7th of October, caught
what is called a Portuguese man of war, together with
several marine animals of the Mollusca tribe.

On the 25th of October, they crossed the line with the
usual forms. On the 29th, in the evening, the luminous
appearance of the sea, mentioned by navigators, was
observed by them: it emitted rays of light resembling
those of lightning.” Mr. Banks and Dr. Solander threw
out a casting-net, when a species of the Medusa was caught,
resembling a metallic substance gréatly heated, emitting a
whitish light.  Some crabs were also caught at the same
{ime, which were exceeding small, yet gave a very glitter-
ing apPearance d

Provisions now falling short; it was determined to put into

4
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Rio ' de Janeiro; where they arrived on the 13th of
November.

Mr. Hicks, the first lieutenant, was sent before in the
pinnace to the city, to inform the gavernor that they put in
there for refreshments and a.pilot. The pinnace returned
without the lieutenant, who was detained till the captain
came on shore. Soon after a ten-oared boat, filled with
soldiers, came up, and rowed round the ship, without any
conversation taking place. A second boat came up, with
several of the viceroy’s officers ; they, inquired whence the
Endeavour came ; what she had on board ; her number of
men, guns, and destination. These, and many other
questions, were answered without equivocation ; when they
apologised for detaining the lieutenant, and other steps they
had taken, which they justified on the plea of custom.

Captain Cook went on shore on the 14th, and obtained
leave to purchase what he wanted, on condition of employ-
ing aninhabitant as a factor. . The captain judging that the
viceroy imagined they were come to trade, endeavoured
to convince him of his mistake, by acquainting him that
they were bound to the southward, to observe the transit
of Venus; a very interesting object to the advancement
of navigation, of which phenomenon, however, he appeared,
as might be supposed, to.be totally ignorant.

The viceroy having ordered, that only the captain, and
such sailors as were necessary to be upon duty, should be
suffered .to land; they, notwithstanding,; attempted to
come on shore, but were prevented by the guard-boat.
Several of the crew, however, unknown to the sentinel,
stole out of the cabin window at midnight, letting them-
selves down by a rope into the boat; and rowing to some
unfrequented part of the shore, made excursions up the
country, though not so far as they could have wished.
When Captain' Cook complained of these restrictions, the
only answer he obtained from the viceroy was, that he had
acted in conformity to his master’s orders. It was now
agreed to present two memorials to the viceroy ; one was
written by the captain, the: other by Mr. Banks: the
answers Teceived were in no way satisfactory. The
captain, judging it necessary, in vindication of his com-
pliance, to urge the viceroy to an act of force in the execution
of his orders, sent Lieutenant Hicks, with a packet, with
directions not to allow a.guard in his boat. The. officer
of the guard-boat did not oppose him by force, but ac-
companying the lieutenant on shore, went to the viceroy,
and acquainted him with what had passed, which induced
his excellency to refuse opening the packet, commanding
the lieutenant to return.), Rinding a soldier had been put
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on board the boat in his absence; as a guard, he insisted
upon his quitting it. The officer now seized the boat’s
crew, and conducied them to prison, under a guard;
and the lieutenant was sent back to the ship, guarded
likewise. 'When Mr. Hicks had acquainted the captain with
these transactions, ‘the latter. wrote'to the viceroy, de-
manding his boat and men, and inclosed that very memorlal
which he had refused to receive from the lieutenant.

This express was sent by a petty officer, and the viceroy
promised to return an answer. Inthe interim, in a sudden
gust of wind, the longboat, with four pipes of rum, went
adrift, with a small skiftf of Mr. Banks’s that was fastened
to her. 'The misfortune was still greater, as the pinnace
was on shore. The yawl was manned immediately, but did
not return till next morning, when she :brought’all' the
hands of the’ longboat on board. . From them:Captain
Cook learnt that the boat having filled with water, they
had brought her to a grappling, and quitted her; and
falling in with a reef of rocks, on their return,’ they were
compelled to cut adrift the little boat belonging to Mr.
Banks. In this situation the captain despatched another
letter to the viceroy, acquainting him with the accident ; at
the same time desiring he would assist them with a boat to
recover their own: :this was~accompanied with a fresh
demand of the pinnace and her crew. His excellency at
length complied both with the request and demand ; and
the same day they fortunately recovered the longboat and
skiff. © Mr. Banks;, on the 26th, artfully eluded the vigilance
of the guard, and went on shore. He avoided the town,
and passed the day in the fields, where the chief obJects
of his curiosity lay.

Being prepared for sea, with water and provisions, they
took on board a pilot the 1st-of December, but the wind
being contrary, were prevented getting out. On the 7th,
having passed the fort, the pilot was discharged, and the
guard-boat ‘quitted them at the same time. »

The town of Rio Janeiro is situated on the west'side of
the river, from which it extends about three-quarters of a
mile. The ground on which it stands is prettylevel. - Some
of its streets run parallel from north to south, and are inter-
sected by others at right angles. The principal street is
near a hundred feet in'width ; theotherstreets are common-
ly twenty or thirty feet wide. 'The houses adjoining to the
principal street have three storéys, but in other places they
are very irregular, though built after thé same manner as’in
Lisbon. The viceroy’s palace formed the right angle of a
large square ; the palace, mint, stables, gaol, etc, compos-
ing but one large building, whi¢h has two storeys, and is
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ninety feet from the water. In the centre of the square is
a fountain supplied with water from a spring at the distance
of ‘three miles, -.conveyed by an aqueduct. From this
fountain both the shipping and inhabitants are supplied
with water. At every corner of the streets was an altar.
Negroes were almost the only people employed in selling
the different commodities exposed in the market, and they
filled up their leisure time in spinning cotton.

The gentry keep  their carriages, which were drawn by
mules ; the ladies, however, used a sedan chair, boarded
before and behind, with curtains on each side, which were
carried by two negroes.

The apothecaries’ shops served the purposes of a coffee-
house, people meeting in them to drink capillaire and play
at backgammon. ' Beggars, who infest the streets of most
European: cities, were not to be found in this.

With regard to the women, it was on all hands agreed,
that the females of the Portuguese and Spanish settlements
in South America, are much addicted to gallantry. Accord-
ing to Dr. Solander’s account, as soon as the evening began,
females appeared on all sides in every window, and particu-
larized their favourites, by giving them nosegays.

The climate of Rio de Janeiro is both agreeable and
healthy, being free from any inconveniences that are in-
cidental to other tropical countries. The air is but seldom
immoderately hot, as the sea breeze constantly begins to
blow about ten o’clock in the morning, and continues until
night, when it is generally succeeded by a land wind.

The soil produces all the tropical fruits, such as oranges,
lemons, limes, melons, mangoes, 'and cocoa-nuts, in great
abundance.

The mines are rich, and lie a considerable way up the
country. . They were kept so private, that any person found
upon the road which led to them, was hung upon the next
tree, unless he could give a satisfactory account of the cause
of his being in that situation. Near forty thousand negroes
were annually imported to dig in these mines, which are so
pernicious to the human frame, and occasion so great a
mortality amongst the poor wretches employed in them,
that in the year 1766, twenty thousand more were drafted
from the town of Rio, to supply the deficiency of the former
number. Who can read this without emotion !

The harbour is safe and commodious, and may be dis-
tinguished by a remarkable hill, in the shape of a cone, at
the west point of the bay.

Thursday, December 8th, 1768, having procured all
necessary supplies, they left Rio. They did not meet with
any material occurrence from this time to the 22nd, when
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they were surrounded by. great numbers of porpoxses, of a
singular species, which were about fifteen feet in length
and of an ash colour.

On the 23rd, they observed an eclipse of the moon ; and
about seven o’clock in the morning, a small white cloud
appeared in the west, from which a train of fire issued,
extending itself westerly ; about two minutes after, they
heard two distinct loud explosions, immediately succeeding
each other like cannon ; after which the cloud soon dis-
appeared.

January 4th [1769], they saw an appearance of land
which they mistook for Pepys’ Island; but on standing
towards it, it proved to be what the sailors call a fog bank.
On the 14th, they entered the Strait of La Maire ; but the
tide being against them, they were driven out with great
violence, and the waves ran so high, that the ship’s bow-
sprit was frequently under water ; at length, however, they
got anchorage at the entrance of a little cove, which
Captain Cook called St. Vincent’s Bay.

The weeds, which here grow upon rocky ground, are very
remarkable ; they appear above the surface in eight and
nine fathoms water ; the leaves are four feet in length, and
many of the stalks, though not more than an inch and a
half in circumference, above one hundred. Mr. Banks and
Dr. Solander having been on shore some hours, returned
with more than a hundred different plants and flowers,
hitherto unnoticed by the European botanists.

Sunday, 15th, having anchored in twelve fathoms water,
upon coral rocks, before a small cove, distant from shore
about a mile, two of the natives came down upon the beach,
in expectation that they would land ; but this situation
affording little shelter, the captain got under sail again,
and the natives retired.

About two o’clock they anchored in the Bay of Good
Success, and Captain Cook went on shore, accompanied by
Mr. Banks and Dr. Solander, to search for a watering-place,
and confer with the Indians. They proceeded about a
hundreds yards in advance, when two of the Indians, having
approached and seated themselves, immediately rose, upon
Mr. Banks and the Doctor coming up, throwing away a
small stick (bumerang), which they had before in their
hands ; this they did in such a direction, that the stick flew
both from themselves and the strangers, which they meant
as a token of peace. They then returned briskly towards
their companions, who had remained at some distance
behind, and made signs to the strangers to advance, which
they accordingly complied with. The reception was friendly,
though the manner wasuncouth. ;- The civility was returned



22 CAPTAIN COOK’S VOYAGES

by the distribution of beads and ribbons, with which the
Indians were much pleased.

After a mutual confidence had been thus established, the
rest of the English party joined, and a general conversation,
though of a singular kind, ensued: ' Three of the Indians
now returned with the captain and his friends to the ship,
whom they clothed and entertained. They refused to drink
rum or brandy, after tasting them, intimating by signs that
it burnt their throats. . They were of a middle stature, with
broad flat faces, low foreheads, high cheeks, noses inclining
to flatness, wide nostrils, small black eyes, large mouths,
small, but indifferent teeth, and black, straight hair,
falling down over their ears and forehead, which was com-
monly smeared with brown and red paint; and, like all the
original natives of:America, they were beardless. Their
garments were the skins of guanacos and seals, which they
wrapped round their shoulders. © The women have a small
string tied round each ankle, and wear each a flap of skin
round the middle.

Mr. Banks, Dr. Solander, Mr. Buchan, and several other
gentlemen, accompanied by servants, went a considerable
way into the country, where they had marshy ground, and
very cold blasts of wind and snow, to contend with. After
much fatigune, they attained.a considerable eminence, where
‘they found a wvariety of plants,: which gratified their
curiosity and repaid them for their toil.

It was now nearly eight o’clock in the evening, and Dr.
Solander, who knew from experience that extreme cold,
when joined with fatigue, occasions a drowsiness that is
not easily resisted, entreated his friends to keep in motion,
however disagreeable it might be to thém ; his words were,
“ Whoever sits down, will sleep ; and whoever sleeps, will
wake no more.”” Every one seemed accordingly armed with
resolution ; but on a sudden the cold became so intense, as
to threaten the most direful effects. It was remarkable,
that Dr. Solander himself, who had so forcibly admonished
and alarmed his party, should be the first who insisted
upon being suffered to repose. In spite of the most earnest
entreaties of his friends, he lay down amidst the snow,
and it was with great difficulty that they kept him awake.
One of the black servants became also weary and faint,
and was upon the point:of following the Doctor’s example.
Mr. Buchan was therefore detached with a party to make
a fire at the first commodious spot they could meet with.
Mr. Banks, with four more, remained with the Doctor and
Richmond the black, who, with the utmost difficulty, were
induced to come on ; but after walking a few miles farther,
they expressed their inability of proceeding. When the black
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was informed, that if he remained there he would soon be
frozen to death, he replied, that he was so exhausted with
fatigue, that death would be a rélief to him. Dr. Solander
said he was not unwilling to go, but that he must first take
some sleep.

Thus resolved, they both sat down, supported by bushes,
and in a short timefell fast asleep. Intelligence now came
from the advanced party, that a fire was kindled about a
quarter of a mile farther on the way. Mr. Banks then waked
the Doctor, who had almost lost the use of his limbs already,
though it was but a few minutes since he sat down; he
nevertheless consented to go on.  Every measure taken to
relieve the black proved ineffectual ; he remained motionless
and they were obliged to leave him to the care of the other
black servant and a sailor, who appeared to have been the
least hurt by the cold; and they were to be relieved as
soon as two others were sufficiently warmed to supply their
places. The Doctor was with much difficulty got to the fire.
Those who were sent to relieve the companions‘of Richmond,
returned in about half an hour without being able to find
them. There was a fall of snow which incessantly con-
tinued for nearly two hours, and there remained no hopes
of seeing the three absentees alive. ~About twelve o’clock,
however, a great shouting was heard at a distance, which
gave inexpressible satisfaction to every one present. Mr.
Banks and four others went forth and met the sailor, with
just strength enough to walk ; he was immediately sent to
the fire, and they proceeded to seek for the two others.
They found Richmond upon his legs, but incapable of
moving them ; the other black was lying senseless upon the
ground. All endeavours to bring them to the fire were
fruitless, nor was it possible to kindle one upon the spot, on
account of the snow that was still falling. There was no
alternative ; they were compelled to leave the two unfor-
tunate negroes to their fate, after covering them very thick
with the boughs of trees.*

Those who had been employed in endeavouring to move
the two blacks to the fire, had been exposed to the cold for
nearly an hour and a half ; some of them began to be
afllicted in the same manner as those they went to relieve.
At length, however, they reached the fire, where they passed
the night in a very disagreeable manner. The party that
set out from the ship consisted of twelve, of whom two were
. already judged to be dead : it was doubtful whether a third

* Could the two poor fellows of Franklin’s ships, found by
M’Clintock’s expedition under & quantity of clothing in the boat
on King William’s Island, have been left there (with their guns
loaded and cocked), under somewhat similar circumstances ?—
by no means improbable.
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would be able to return on board; and Mr. Buchan, a
fourth, who had just recovered from fits, seemed threatened
with them again. They had wandered so far, that they
were now distant a long day’s journey from the ship ; and
they had not provisions left sufficient to afford a single meal.

On the 17th, in the morning at day-break, nothing pre-
senled itself to view but snow all around ; and the blasts
of wind were so violent and frequent, that their journey was
rendered impracticable, and there was much reason to dread
perishing with cold and famine. They therefore returned
to the ship, which, to their great astonishment and satisfac-
tion, they reached in about three hours.*

On the 20th, Mr. Banks and Dr. Solander made another
excursion into the country. After walking for some time,
they arrived at a small town, consisting of about a dozen
miserable huts, constructed without art or regularity, in the
form a sugar loaf, with a place left open, which answers
the double purpose of a door and chimney. Mr. Banks
observed some European articles amongst them, from
whence it was judged that they travelled at times to the
north ; as no ship had touched at this part of Tierra del
Fuego for some years.

These people appeared upon the whole to be the outcasts
of human nature ; their only food was shell-fish ; and they
were destitute of every convenience arising from the rudest
art.} Nevertheless they seemed content; so little does
refinement or luxury promote happiness !

* On more than one occasion, parties employed on expeditions
in search of Franklin in the Arectic Seas, have been placed in a
similar position, but happily no life was ever lost. Sir R. M’Clure
was himself in great peril, when he ascertained the junction of the
Pacific Ocean with the Atlantic, through the waters of Barrow Straits.
It was on a sledge journey when “ every now and then one of their
party would experience a severe fall into some deep cleft, or over
gsome huge hummock, and then, thoroughly jaded, they would sit
down and feel inclined to drop off into a sleep from which they
never would have awakened in this world. Captain M’Clure,
however, was aware of this danger ; and his voice aroused them to
exertion.””—Capt. Sherard Osborn’s narrative of M’Clure’s Voyage.

On another occasion a man named Whitfield was very nearly lost,
having ?trayed from the ship, and was found * stiff and rigid as a
corpse,’

l'lfl))r. M’Cormick also had a very narrow escape. He passed a
whole day and night without food or shelter, beyond what the snow
drift afforded, about seven miles from his ship, in a dense fog and
snow storm,

t Mr. Parker Snow, in his deeply interesting narrative of a T'wo
Years Oruise off Tierra Del Fuego, etc., describes the natives as
¢ perfectly nude, wild and shaggy in appearance, with long spears
in their hands *’—* they were indeed, in appearance, like so many
fiendish imps.”
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The generality of writers who have described the island
of Tierra del Fuego, have represented it as covered with
snow, and destitute of wood. ' In this, however, they are
evidently mistaken, and their error must have arisen from
having visited it in the winter season, when it possibly may
be covered with snow. The crew of the Endeavour per-
ceived trees when they were at a considerable distance from
the island, and on their nearer approach, they found the sea
coast and the sides of:-the hills clothed with an agreeable
verdure. The summits of the hills are barren, but the
valleys are rich, and a brook is to be found at the foot of
almost every hill ; the water has a reddish tinge, but is not
ill tasted, and was found to be some of the best obtained
during the whole voyage.

Thursday, January 20th, Captain Cook weighed anchor,
and the weather being calm, Mr. Banks, from a small boat,
shot some sheerwaters and albatrosses ; the latter proved
good eating.

Although the doubling of Cape Horn was represented as
a dangerous, and the Strait of Magellan a less perilous
course, the Endeavour doubled the Cape on this occasion
with as much ease as if it had been the North Foreland on
the Kentish coast ; the heavens were fair, the wind tem-
perate, the weather pleasant ; and, being near shore, they
had a distinct view of the coast.

About ten o’clock, Tuesday, April 4th, Peter Briscoe,
servant to Mr. Banks, discovered land to the south, about
three or four leagues distant. Captain Cook immediately
hauled up for it, and found it to be an island of an oval
form, with a lake in the centre, that extended over the
greater part of it. The border of land which surrounded
the lake was in many places low and narrow, especially
towards the south, where the beach consisted of a reef of
rocks ; three places on the north side had the same appear-
ance. Captain Cook came within a mile on the north
side, but though he cast a line of one hundred and thirty
fathoms, he found no bottom, and could not meet with any
anchorage.

There were several natives visible on shore ; they seemed
tall, with remarkably large heads, probably increased by
the head dress ; their hair was black, and their complexions
copper colour. Some that were abreast of the ship, had
in their hands pikes or poles twice the height of them-
selves.

Captain Cook saw land again in the afternoon to the
north-west. He reached it by sunset, when it appeared to

~ be a low island covered with wood, in circular form, about
- a mile in circumference. No inhabitants were visible, nor
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any cocoa-nut trees, though the Endeavour approached
within half a mile of the shore ; yet the land appeared to be
covered with verdure of various tinges. This island the
officers on board named Thrumb Cap.

On the 10th, upon their looking out for the island to
which they were destined, they saw land ahead. The next
morning it appeared very high and mountainous, and it was
known to be King George II1.’s Island, so named by Captain
Wallis, but by the natives called Otaheite. The calms pre-
vented the Endeavour from approaching it till the morning
of the 12th, when a breeze springing up, several canoes were
making towards the ship. Each canoe had in it young
plantains, and branches of trees, as tokens of peace and
friendship ; and they were handed up the sides of the ship
by the people in one of the canoes, who made signals in a
very expressive manner, intimating that they desired these
emblems of pacification should be placed in a conspicuous
part of the ship ; and they were accordingly stuck amongst
therigging, at which they testified their approbation. Their
cargoes consisted of cocoa-nuts, bananas, bread-fruit,
apples, and figs, which were very acceptable to the crew,
and were readily purchased. e i

On the morning of the 13th the Endeavour, entered Port
Royal harbour, in the island of Otaheite, and anchored
within half a mile of the shore. A great number of the
natives immediately came off in their canoes, and bartered
their commodities for beads and other trinkets.

An elderly man, named Owhaw, who was known to Mr.
Gore and others, who had visited this island with Captain
‘Wallis, came on board ; and as he was considered a useful
man, the captain endeavoured to gratify all his inquiries.
Captain Cook now drew up several necessary rules for the
regulation oi traffic with the inhabitants, and ordered that
they should be strictly observed.

‘When the ship was properly secured, the captain went on
shore with Mr. Banks and Dr. Solander, a'party under arms,
and their friend the old Indian. They were received on
shore by some hundreds of the natives, who were struck with
such awe, that the first who approached crept almost upon
his hands and knees. He also presented to them branches
of trees, the usual symbol of peace.’ This symbol was re-
ceived, on the part of the English party, with demon-
strations of satisfaction and friendship.

They were conducted by the old Indian, accompanied by
his countrymen, tewards the place where the Dolphin had
watered. Here, the ground being cleared, the chiefs of the
natives threw down their boughs, and the captain and his
companions followed the example, after having drawn up
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the marines, who, marching in order, dropped their branches
upon those of the Indians. ‘When they came to the water-
ing-place, the Indians intimated that they had their per-
mission to occupy that ground, but it was not suited to their
purpose. In the course of this walk, and a circuit through
the woods, the Indians had got rid of their timidity, and
became familiarized.

The whole circuit was nearly four miles, through groves
of cocoa-nut and bread-fruit trees ; benéath the trees were
the habitations of the natives, consisting of only a roof,
destitute of walls. ' The bread-fruit is about the size of the
horse-chestnut; and the fruit is not unlike the cantaloupe
melon in appearance. It is somewhat of the consistency of
new bread, and is roasted before it is eaten.

Next morning, before they left the ship, several canoes
came about her, filled with people, whose dress denoted
them to be of a superior class ; two of these came on board,
and each of them fixed upon a friend ; one of them chose
Mr. Banks, and the other Captain Cook. The ceremony
consisted of taking off their clothesin great part, and putting
them upon their adopted friends. This compliment was
returned, by presenting them some trinkets. They then
made signs for these gentlemen to'go with them to the place
of their abode ; and the captain being desirous of meeting
with a ' more convenient harbour, and knowing more of the
people, readily assented. !

Accordingly, Captain Cook, Mr. Banks, Dr. Solander, with
the Indians and other friends, got into two boats. ' About
three miles’ distance they landed among several hundreds
of the natives, who'conducted them to alarge house. Upon
their entrance they saw a middle-aged man, named Toota-
hah, whe, as soon as they were seated, ordered a cock and
hen to be produced, which he presented to Mr. Banks and
the captain, as well as a piece of perfumed cloth ; which
compliment was' returned by a present from Mr. Banks.
They were then conducted with great civility to several large
houses, constructed in the same manner as those already
described ; the women, so far from shunning; invited, and
even pressed them to be seated. Whilst they <wvere after-
wards walking along the shore, they met, accompanied by a
great number of natives,”another chief, named Tubora
Tumaida, with whom they settled a'treaty of peace, in the
manner before described. Tubora Tumaida intimated he
had provisions for them, if they chose to eat, and they accor-
dingly ‘dined heartily upon bread-fruit, plantains, and
fish. i :

In the course of this visit, Dr. Solander complained to
the chief that he had lost an opera glass.” The chief appeared
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much concerned at the accident, and gave him to under-
stand, with an appearance of great sincerity, that he would
endeavour if possible to have the glass recovered ; but that
if this could not be done, he would make the Doctor com-
pensation, by giving him as much new cloth as should be
thought equal to its value. Mr. Banks, in order to try
the effect of a little intimidation, started up, and striking
the butt end of his musket on the ground, alarmed the
Indians so much that they all precipitately ran out of the
house, except the chief, and a few others of the superior
class. The case was in a little time brought, and the glass
itself soon after. After the amicable termination of this
adventure, they returned to the ship about six o’clock in
the evening.

Saturday the 15th, the captain, attended by Mr. Banks,
and some others of the crew, went on shore to fix on a
proper spot to erect a-small fort for their defence, during
their stay on the island ; and the ground was accordingly
marked out for that purpose, a great number of the natives
looking on all the while, and behaving in the most peaceable
and friendly manner.

Mr. Banks and others, accompanied by several of the
natives, having gone out shooting in the woods, some
marines and a petty officer were appointed to guard the tent.
Before they had gone far they were alarmed by the discharge
of two pieces, fired by the tent-guard. Upon their return
to the tent, it appeared that an Indian had taken an oppor-
tunity to snatch away one of the sentinel’s muskets ; where-
upon the young midshipman in command imprudently
ordered the marines to fire, which they did immediately
amongst the thickest of the fugitive Indians, several of
whom were wounded ; but as the criminal did not fall, they
pursued and shot him dead.

When Mr. Banks heard of the affair, he was greatly dis-
pleased with the guard, and used his utmost endeavours
to'adjust the difference ; and through the mediation of an
old man, prevailed on many of the natives to come over
to them, bringing plantain trees, their usual signal of peace ;
and clapping their hands on their breasts, they cried
‘“ Tyau,” which signifies friendship.

Few of the natives appeared next morning upon the
beach ; and not one of them came on board. Hence Mr.
Banks and the other gentlemen concluded, that their appre-
hensions were not entirely removed, more especially as even
Owhaw had forsaken them. The captain, in consequence of
these disagreeable appearances, brought the ship nearer to
shore, and moored her so as to make her broadside bear on-
the spot which had been marked for erecting the fort. In
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the evening he landed with some of the crew, when the
Indians assembled round them, and they trafficked together
as before.

The fort began to be erected on the 18th. Some of the
company were employed in throwing up intrenchments,
whilst others were occupied in cutting fascines and pickets,
which the Indians of their own accord cheerfully assisted
in bringing from the woods. Bread-fruit and cocoa-nuts
were also brought in such large quantities, that it was neces-
sary to reject them, and to intimate that none would be
wanted for two days. Beads weré taken in exchange for
everything.

Mr. Monkhouse, the surgeon, in his evening walk, saw the
body of 'the man who had been shot at the tent. It was
deposited in a shed, close to the house where he had resided
when alive.” The corpse was placed on a bier, the frame of
which was wood, with a matted bottom, supported by posts
about five feet high. It was covered with a mat, overlaid
by a white cloth; by its side lay a wooden mace, and
towards the head two cocoa-nut shells ; towards the feet
was a bunch of green leaves and small dried boughs, tied
together and stuck in the ground, near which was a stone the
size of a cocoa-nut: here was also placed a young plantain
tree and a stone axe.. The natives seemed displeased at his
approaching the body.

A specimen of the music of the country was given on the
22nd; some of the natives performed on flutes with only
two stops ; the performer blew with his nostril instead of his
mouth : several accompanied the instrument with a gong,
but there was only one tune.

On the 25th, several knives belonging to the oﬂicers were
missing ; upon which Mr. Banks, who had lost his among
the rest, rashly accused one of the chiefs of the theft, the
knife all the while having been mislaid by Mr. Banks’
servant. The poor chief, who was quite innocent, took the
charge very much to heart. The tears started from his eyes,
and he made signs with the knife, that if he had ever been
guilty of such an action as was imputed to him, he would
suffer his throat to be cut. In general, however, these
people, from the highest to the lowest, are too much
addicted to pllfermg

On the 26th, six swivel guns were mounted upon the
fort, which put the natives into great consternation ; and
caused. several fishermen, who lived upon the point, to
remove further off, imagining they were to be fired at in a
few days.

The next day Tubora Tumaida, with a friend and three
of his women, dined at the fort. Soon after his departure
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he returned in. much’ agitation, to acquaint Mr. Banks
that theiship’s butcher had threatened te cut his wife’s
throat, upon her refusing to sell him a stone hatchet, which
he had taken a fancy to, for-a nail..« It clearly appeared
he had been culpable, and he was flogged on board, in sight
of several Indians. Assoon as the first stroke was given
they interfered, and ‘earnestly entreated that he might be
untied. This being refused, they burst into tears, and
showed great concern. o y

During the forenoon of this day, canoes were continuaily
coming in, and the tents at the fort were filled with people
of both sexes. Mr. Molineux, master of the Endeavour,
went onshore, and as he hadivisited the island on a previous
voyage, he was the first.to recognize and point out Oberea,
the queen. of the island. i : \ ol

Every one wasnow anxious to see her who had made so
distinguished a figure in the accounts that had been given
by the first discoverers of this island. Queen Oberea was
now about forty years of age; her figure was-large and
tall ; her skin white; her eyes had great expression ; :she
had 'been handsome, but ‘her beauty was now upon: the
decline. She was soon:conducted ‘to the ship, and went
on board with some of her family. - Many presents were
made to her, particularly a-child’s doll, which:seemed: the
most to engross her attention. Captain.Cook accompanied
her.onsshore ; and as soon asthey landed, she presented him
with a hog, and some plantains, which were:carried to the
fort in procession; Oberea and-the captain bringing up the
rear. Theymet Tootahah; who, though not king, seemed to
be at this time invested with severeign authority. r He
immediately became jealous of the queen’s having the doll ;
which made them feel it necessary to compliment him with
one-also. :

The next day, Sunday the 30th, Tomio came running to
the tents, and taking Mr. Banks by the arm-(to whom they
applied in all emergent !cases), told him that Tubora
Tumaida was dying, owing to something which had been
given him to eat by ‘the sailors, and prayed him.to. go
instantly to him. Mr. Banks found the Indian very sick.
He was told that he had been'vomiting, and -had thrown
up a leaf, which they sald contained some of the poison
he had taken. ' Upon examining the leaf, Mr. Banks
found it to be nothing more than tobacco, which the Indian
had begged: of 'some of their people. Mr. Banks, now
knowing his disorder, ordered him to drink cocoa-nut milk,
which soon restored him to health ; and he was as cheerful
as: ever.

On the 1st of May, a chief, who had dined on board a
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few days before, accompanied by some of his women, who
used to feed him, came on board by himself ; and when
dinner :was on table, the captain helped him to some
victuals, thinking upon this occasion he would condescend
to feed himself ; but he never attempted to eat, and had
not one of the servants fed him, he would certainly have
gone without his dinner.

Next day having occasion to use the quadrant, to their
great astonishment and concern it was missing. This was
the more extraordinary, as a sentinel had been posted
the whole night within a few yards of the tent in which it
had been deposited ; and it had never been taken out of the
case in which it was packed. = As the loss of this instrument
would have rendered it impossible for them to have made
the necessary observations respecting the transit, every
possible search was made in the vicinity. ‘At last Mr.
Banks, accompanied by Mr. Green and some others, set out
for the‘'woods, where it was thought some intelligence of the
robbery might be gained, if it had been committed by the
natives.  In the course ‘of their/journey they met Tubora
Tumaida, with a few of the natives, who by signs was made
to understand that some of his countrymen had stolen the
quadrant, and that it must be produced. The chief im-
mediately made inquiry ;  and by his interference, the
instrument ' was' recovered without any material injury,
though it had been taken to pieces.

On Friday the 5th, Captain Cook, accompanied by Mr.
Banks and Dr. Solander, set out in the pinnace, taking one
of Tootahah’s people with them, to visit that chief. . They
soon'reached Eparre, the place where ‘he lived, which was
but~a few miles®to /the west of (the tents.  Upon their
arrival, they were immediately conducted to the chief, whilst
thenatives shouted round them, ¢ Taio Tootahah! Tootahah
is your friend !’ They found him sitting under 4 tree,
and some old men standing round -him. ~~As soon as he had
made signs for:them to'sit down, Captain Cook presented
him with a shirt and a broad cloth garnient, with which he
seemed greatly pleased : ‘and put thé garment on. After
eating amouthful together in the boat, they were conducted
to a large area, or court-yard, on one side of his house, where
an entertainment was provided for them, consisting of
wrestling.  The chief sat at the'upper end of the area, with
several of his principal men on each side of him, by way of
judges, from whom the conquerors received applause. Ten
or twelve combatants entered the area, and after many
simple ceremonies of challenging each other, they engaged,
endeavouring to throwone another by dint of strength ;
then seizing hold of each other by the thigh, the hand,
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the hair, or the clothes, they grappled without the least
art, till one was thrown on his back ; this conquest was
applauded by some words from the old men, and there|
huzzas.* ,

‘When this entertainment was over, they were informed
that some hogs and a quantity of bread-fruit were preparing
for their dinner, which intelligence was the more agreeable
as their appetites were at this time exceedingly keen. But
instead of dining either on:shore or on board the boat, they
had the mortification of going as far as the ship by the
desire of the chief. Assoon as the-chief was known to beon
board the ship, the people brought plenty of bread-fruit,
cocoa-nuts, and other provisions, to the fort.

On Tuesday the 9th, in the forenoon, Oberea paid them a
visit, accompanied by her favourite Obadee ; she presented
them with a hog and some bread-fruit.

The forge being now set up, and frequently at work, be-
came not only a new object of admiration to the Indians,
but afforded the captain an additional opportunity of con-
ferring obligations on them, by permitting the smith, during
his leisure hours, to convert the old iron, which they were
supposed to have procured from the Dolphin, into different
kinds of tools.

The natives, after repeated attempts, finding themselves
incapable of pronouncing. the names of the English gentle-
men, had recourse to new ones formed from their own
language. Captain Cook was named Toote ; Hicks, Hete;
Gore, Toura; Solander, Tolano ; Banks, Opane; Green,
Treene ; and so on for the greatest part of the ship’s crew.

The next evening Mr. Banks was under the disagreeable
necessity of reprimanding, in strong terms, Tubora Tumaida
for having the insolence to snatch his gun from him, and
firing it in the air—a thing which surprised Mr. Banks
greatly, as he imagined him totally ignorant of the use of
it—and as their safety depended on keeping them in that
state, he told him, with threats, that his touching his piece
was the greatest of insults. - The Indian made no reply, but
set off with his family to his house at Eparre. . He being a
useful man, Mr. Banks, accompanied by Mr. Molineux,
thought fit to go after him, and they found him among a
number of people, greatly dejected. However, as Mr.
Banks judiciously caused all animosity to cease, they
brought him back to supper ; after which the chief and his
wife both slept in his tent. Soon after, Mr. Banks suspected

* ¢ The conqueror never exulted over the conquered, neither did
the conquered repine at his ill-luck, but the whole was carried on
with great good humour.”—Extract, Captain Cook's Journal,
Admiralty Records. (
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Tubora Tumaida of having stolen some nails. Having a
good opinion of this chief, he was willing to put his fidelity
to the test, and several temptations were thrown in his way
—among the rest a basket of nails, which proved irresistible.
He confessed the fact ; and upon Mr. Banks’s insisting upon
restitution, he declared the nails were at Eparre. This
occasioned high words, and at length the Indian produced
one of them. He was to have been forgiven upon restoring
the rest, but not having resolution to fulfil his engagement,
he fled with his furniture and family before night.

On the 27th of May, Tootahah being removed to a place
called Atahourou, Mr. Banks, Dr. Solander, Captain Cook,
and some others, set out in the pinnace to pay him another
visit ; and after making presents of a few trifling articles,
they were invited to stay the night. Mr. Banks having
accepted a place in Oberea’s canoe, left his companions in
order to retire to rest. Notwithstanding the care Oberea
took of his clothes, by having them in her own custody,
they were stolen, with his pistols, powder-horn, and many
other things that were in his waistcoat pockets. The alarm
was given to Tootahah, who slept in the next canoe, and
who went with Oberea in search of the thief, leaving Mr.
Banks with only his breeches on, and his musket uncharged.
They soon returned, but without success, and Mr. Banks
thought proper to put up with the loss for the present.
However, he went to the hut where Captain Cook and three
of his associates lay, and began to relate his melancholy
tale ; but instead of receiving much comfort from them, he
was told that they had shared the same fate, having lost
their stockings and jackets.

They now began to make preparations for observing the
transit of Venus, and from the hints which Captain Cook
had received from the Royal Society, he sent out two parties
to make observations from different spots, that in case they
failed at Otaheite, they might succeed elsewhere. They
employed themselves in preparing their instruments, and
giving instructions in the use of them. On Thursday, the
1st of June (the next Saturday being the day of the transit),
they sent the longboat to Eimayo, having on board Mr. Gore,
Mr. Monkhouse, and Mr. Sporing, a friend of Mr. Banks,
each furnished with necessary instruments by Mr. Green.
Mr. Banks and several of the Indians went out with this
party. Others were despatched to find out a convenient
spot, at such a distance from their principal station as might
suit their purpose.

Those who went to Eimayo in the longboat, after rowing
the best part of the night, by the help of some Indians on
board a canoe, which they hailed, found a proper situation

63—s=
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for their observatory upon a rock, where they fixed their
tents, and prepared the apparatus for the following day’s
observation. i ‘ h1

On Saturday the 3rd of June, as soon as it was light, Mr.
Banks left them to go to the island for fresh provisions. As
he was trading with the natives who belonged to Tarrao, the
king of the island arrived with his sister, whose name was
Nuna, in order to pay him a visit. ' After being seated as
is customary, the royal present was brought, consisting of a
hog, a dog, some cocoa-nuts, bread-fruit, ete. ' A messenger
was despatched by Mr. Banks for an adze, a shirt, and some
beads, which his majesty received with much pleasure. Mr.
Banks returned to the observatory with his visitors, and
showed them the transit of the planet Venus over the sun’s
disk, informing them that he and his companions had
come from their own country solely to view it in that
situation.

Both the parties which were sent out made their observa-
tion with great success. They nevertheless differed in the
accounts of the times of the contacts more than might
have been imagined.*

Mr. Green’s account was as follows ;—

The first external contact, or first' appearance of
Venus on the sun, was 9 hours 25 min. 4 sec.

Ay The first internal contact, or total immersion,
~was 9 hours 44 min. 4 sec.
The second internal contact, or beginning of the
Aft immersion, was 3 hours 14 min. 8 sec.
flernoon. | The second external contact, or total immersion,

was 3 hours 32 min. 10 sec.

Latitude of the observatory, 17° 15’ 29.” S.

Longitude, 149° 32’ 30” W. of Greenwich.

There having been a scarcity of bread-fruit for some days,
it appeared, upon inquiry, that the fruit had been gathered
to make a sort'of sour paste, called Mahie, which after
fermentation, will keep a long time, in times of dearth.

Complaint was made on Monday the 12th to Captain

* «The day proved asfavourable to our purpose as we could wish;;
not a cloud was to be seen the whole day, and the air was perfectly
clear ; so that we had every advantage in observing the whole of
the passage of the planet Venus over the sun’s disk. We very
distinctly saw an atmosphere, or dusky shade, round the body of
the planet, which  very much disturbed the times of the contact,
particularly the two internal ones. It was nearly calm the whole
day, and the thermometer, exposed to the sun about the middle of
the day, rose to a degree of heat we have not before met with.”—
Extract, Captain Cook's Jouwrnal; Admiralty Records.
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Cdok, that the Indians had lost some bows and arrows and
strings of plaited hair. = The affair was inquired into, and
the fact being well attested, two dozen lashes were inflicted
upon the sailors who had stolen them.

A variety of articles having been stolen by the natives at
different times, the captain wished, if possible, to put an end
to these practices by making it their common interest to
prevent them. Accordingly, he ordered a number of their
canoes to be seized till restitution was made, but at last
was prevailed on to release them.

About this time anotheér event had nearly involved the
Englishin a quarrel with the Indians. Captain Cook having
sent a boat on shore to get ballast, the officer not meeting
immediately with what he wanted, began to pull down one
of their sepulchral buildings. This measure was strenuously
opposed by 'the 'Indians. Mr. Banks, having received
intelligence of the affair, repaired to the spot, and the
matter was soon amicably terminated, there being stones
sufficient found elsewhere.

On the 19th, in the evening, soon after dark, while the
canoes were detained by the' captain, Queen Oberea pre-
sented the crew with a hog, bread-fruit, and other presents,
among which was a dog. Dogs are esteemed here more
delicate eating than pork, as those bred to be.eaten taste no
animal. food, but live entirely upon vegetables, and the
experiment was tried. Tupia undertook to kill and dress
one, which he did by making a lhole in the ground and
baking it It was deemed a very good dish.

Many of the natives brought varieus kinds of presents
to the party at the fort. Among the party was Oamo, a
chief of several districts on the island, whom they had never
before seen, and who brought with h1m a hog. The chief
was treated with great respect by the natives, and was ac-
companied by a boy and a young woman. -The boy, though
able to walk, was carried upon'a man’s back. Oberea, and
some other of the Indians, went out of the fort.to meet them,
their heads 'and bodies being first uncovered as low as the
waist. This was considered as a mark of respect; they
¢had not noticed'it before, but judged :that it was usually
shown to persons of distinguished rank among them  Oamo
entered the tent, but the young woman, who was about
sixteen, could. not be prevailed: upon to accompany him,
though she seemed to combat with her curiosity and incli-
nation. “Dr. Solander took the youth by the hand, and con-
ducted him in ; but the natives without, who had prevented
theigirl’s entrance, soon found means to-get him out again.

The curiosity of Mr. Banks, and 'the other gentlemen,
being excited from these circumstances, they made inquiry
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who these strangers were, and were informed, that Oamo
was Oberea’s husband, but that by mutual consent they
had been for a considerable time separated ;. and that the
youth and girl were their offspring. The boy was named
Terridiri, and was heir apparent to the'sovereignty of the
island ; and was to espouse his sister as soon as he had
attamed the proper age.

Monday, June 26th, early in the morning, Captaln Cook
set out in the pinnace, accompanied by Mr. Banks, to cir-
cumnavigate the island. They sailed to the eastward, and
in the forenoon went on shore, in a part of the island under
the government of Ahio, a young chief, who had often
visited them at their tents. They also found here some
other natives of their acquaintance.

Having taken a survey of the harbour, and a large bay,
near to which it is situated, they proposed going to the oppo-
site side of the bay, but Titubaola, who was their conductor,
not only refused to accompany them, but endeavoured to
dissuade Captain Cook and Mr. Banks, saying, that ¢ the
country was inhabited by people who were not subjects
to Tootahah, and who would destroy them all.”’ = This in-
formation did not, however, prevent the execution of their
design ; and upon loading their pieces with ball, Titubaola
took courage to go with them. They rowed till it was dark,
when they reached a narrow neck of land that divided the
island into two peninsulas, which are distinct governments.
As they had not yet reached the hostile part of the country,
they agreed to spend the night on shore; where they
were provided with supper and lodgmg by a woman named
Ooratooa.

In the morning they pursued their passage, and landed
in a district which was governed by a chief, named Marai-
tata, the burying place of men ; -and his father was called
Pahairade, the stealer of boats.  But notwithstanding the
ominous nature of their names, they gave Captain Cook and
Mr. Banks a civil reception, furnished them with provisions,
and exchanged them a large hog for a hatchet.

The curiosity of the natives was soon excited, and a crowd
gathered round the party of English, but they saw only two
people whom they knew. They then advanced till they
reached the district, which was under the dominion of the
principal chief, or kmg, named Waheatua. " Having con-
tinued their journey along the shore for a considerable way,
they at last saw the chief, and with-him an agreeable young
woman, about two-and-twenty, named Toudidde. ‘

In passing through this part of the island, they found it
better cultivated; and more improved than any they had
hitherto met with ;. thongh the honses-were but few, and
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those small, but there were a great number of canoes, which
excelled any they had seen, both in size and workmanship.
Notwithstanding the fertility of the country, provision of
every kind was scarce.

Towards the southernmost part of the island they found a
good harbour, formed by a reef, and the country around
remarkably fruitful.

They landed again a little farther to the east. Mathiabo,
the chief, with whom they had no acquaintance, nor had
ever seen before, soon came to them, and supplied them
with cocoa-nuts and bread-fruit. ' They purchased a hog
for a glass bottle, which lie took in preference to every
other thing that was offered him. They saw here a turkey-
cock and a goose, which the Dolphin left on the island;
they were remarkably fat, and seemed to be greatly admired
by the Indians.

A very uncommon sight presented itself in a house near
this place; several human jaw-bones were fastened to a
board of a semicircular form ; they seemed fresh, and had
not lost any of their teeth. Mr. Banks could obtain no
explanation of this mystery. They quitted this place, and
arrived in a bay on the north-west side.

Several canoes came off with some beautiful women, who
appeared to be desirous of their going on shore, to which
they readily assented. They met with a friendly reception
from the chief, whose name was Wiverou, at whose house
they supped, in company with Mathiabo. Part of the house
was allotted for them to sleep in; and soon after supper they
retired torest. Mathiabo having obtained a cloak from Mr.
Banks, under pretence of using it as a coverlet, immediately
made off with it, unperceived by any one. News of the
robbery was soon brought by one of the natives ; in conse-
quence of which they set out in pursuit of the thief, but had
proceeded a very little way, before they were met by a
person bringing back the cloak, which Mathiabo had given
up through fear. . The house, upon their return, was entirely
deserted ; and about four in the morning the sentinel gave
the alarm that the boat was missing. Their situation was
now extremely alarming ; the party consisting of four had
but a single musket and two pocket pistols, without a spare
ball or a charge of powder. After remaining in this dis-
tressing state of anxiety for a considerable time, dreading
the advantage the Indians might take of it, to their great
joy, the boat, which had been driven away by the tide,
returned ; and they departed.

This place is situated on the north side of Tiarrabou, the
south-east peninsula of the island. It is fertile and popu-
lous, and the inhabitants everywhere behaved with civility.
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The last district in Tiarrabou, in which they landed, was
.governed by a chief named Omoe.

Here they saw one of their eatuas, or gods ; it was made
of wicker work, and resembled the figure of a man ; it was
nearly seven feet in height, and was covered with black and
white feathers; on the head were four protuberances,
which the natives called tate ete, or little men.

They were now near the district, named Paparra, which
was governed by Oamo and Oberea, where they intended to
spend the night. -Mr. Banks and his company landed about
an hour before it was dark, and found that they had both
set out to pay them a visit at the fort. They, nevertheless,
slept at the house of Oberea, which, though not large, was
very neat ; no inhabitant but her father, who showed them
much civility, was now in possession of it. They took this
opportunity of walking out to a point, upon which they had
observed some trees called Etoa, which usually grow on the
burial-places of these people. These burying grounds are
called Morai, which are also places of worship. They here
saw an immense edifice, which they found to be the morai
‘of Oamo and Oberea.

It consisted of an enormous pile of stone worlk, raised in
the form of a pyramid with a flight of steps on each side,
and was nearly two hundred gnd seventy feet long, about
one-third as wide, and between forty and fifty feet high.
As the Indians were totally destitute of iron utensils to
shape their stones, as well as mortar to cement them when
they had made them fit for use, a structure of such height
and magnitude must have been a work of infinite labour
and fatigue.

In the centre of the. summlt was the representation of a
bird, carved in wood ; close to this was the figure of a fish
which was in stone. This pyramid made part of one side
of a wide court or square, the sides of which were nearly
equal ; the whole was walled in, and paved with flat stones.
At a little distance; to the west of this edifice, was another
paved square, which contained several small stages, called
by the natives Ewattas, which appeared to be altars ; upon
them they place provisions as sacrifices to their gods.

The inhabitants of the island of Otaheite seem in nothing
so desirous of excelling each other, as in the grandeur and
magnificence of their sepulchres; and the rank and
authority of Oberea was forcibly evinced upon this occasion.
The crew of the Endeavour, it has been observed, did not
find Oberea possessed of the same power as when the
Dolphin was at this place, and they were now informed of
the cause. It seemed that, about four or five months
before Captain Gook’s arrival; the inhabitants of Tiarrabou,
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the peninsula to the south-east, made a descent here, and
slew many of the people; that hereupon Oberea, and
Oamo who then held the government for his son, had fled
and taken refuge in the mountains; and that the victors
destroyed all .the houses and pillaged the country. The
turkey and goose, which had been seen'in the'district of
Mathiabo, were among the booty; and the jaw-bones,
which were discovered there, had likewise been carried off
as trophies of victory. -

On Friday the 30th, they arrived at Otahourou, where
their old acquaintance Tootahah resided ; he received them
with great civility, and provided for them a good supper and
a convenient lodging ; and notwithstanding they were so
shamefully plundered the last time they slept with this
chief, they spent the night in the utmost security, none of
their clothes, or any other article being missing in the
morning.

On Saturday, July 1st, they returned to the fort at Port
Royal Harbour ; having discovered the island, both penin-
sulas included, to be about one hundred miles in circum-
ference.

Their Indian friends crowded about them upon their
return, and none of them came without provisions.

Monday the 3rd, Mr. Banks made an excursion, with
some Indian guides, to trace the river up the valley to its
source, and observe to what extent its banks were inhabited.
After meeting with houses for the space of six miles they
came up to one which was said to be the last that could be
seen. The master of it presented them with cocoa-nuts
and other fruits; and after a short visit, they continued
their walk. In this tour they often passed under vaults,
formed by rocky fragments, in which they were informed
that those who were benighted often took refuge. During
this tour he had a good opportunity of searching for minerals,
but found none. The stones, everywhere resembling those
of Madeira, gave manifest’ signs of having been burnt.
There were also evident traces of fire in the clay upon the
hills, both of this and the neighbouring islands.

Mr. Banks was engaged the 4th, in planting on each side
of the fort a quantity of the seeds of water melons, oranges,
lemons, limes, and other plants and trees which he had
brought from Rio de Janeiro. He gave these seeds to
the Indians in great plenty, and planted many of them
in the woods: some of the melon-seeds which had been
planted soon after his arrival, had already produced plants,
which appeared to be in a very flourishing state.

Preparations were now made for departing ; and Captain
Cook hoped to quit the island, without any further mis-
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understanding with the natives; but in this he was mis-
taken. Two foreign sailors having been out, one of them
was robbed of his knife, and striving to recover it, the
Indians attacked ‘and wounded himin a dangerous manner
with a stone ; his companion also received a slight wound
in the head. As Captain Cook would have been unwilling
to have taken further notice of the transaction, he wasnot
sorry the offenders had made their escape.

Another affair, equally disagrecable, soon after happened.
Between the 8th and 9th, in the evening, two young marines
retired secretly from the fort, and in the morning were not to
be met with. Notice having been given for all the company
to go on board the next day, and that the ship would sail on
that or the ensuing day, Captain Cook began to fear that the
marines intended to remain on shore. He was apprized
that no eflectual steps could be taken to recover them,
without risking the harmony and good fellowship which, at
present, subsisted between the English and the natives ;
and; therefore, resolved to wait a day in hopes of their
returning.

The 10th, inthe morning, the marines not having returned,
an inquiry was made after them, when the Indians declared
that they did not propose returning, having taken refuge in
the mountains, where it was impossible to discover them ;
and that each had taken a wife. In consequence of which
it was intimated to several chiefs, who were in the fort with
their women, among whom were Tubora Tumaida, Tomio,
and Oberea, that they would not be suffered to quit it till
the deserters were produced. They received the intimation
with very little signs either of fear or discontent, assuring
the captain that the marines should be sent back; but
night coming on, Captain Cook judged it was not prudent to
let the hostages remain at the fort; and he therefore
ordered them to be brought on board. This gave an
unusual alarm and several of them, especially the females,
testified their apprehensions with great agitation of mind,
and floods of tears.

One of the marines was brought back in the evening by
some of the Indians, who reported that the other and the
two people who were sent to fetch them back, would be
detained till Tootahah, who was one of the confined, should
be liberated. Mr. Hicks was immediately despatched, in
the longboat, with several men, to rescue the English
prisoners ; at the same time, Captain Cook told Tootatah,
that it was incumbent on him to assist them with some of
his people, and to give orders in his name that the men
should be set at liberty, for that he should expect him
to answer for the event. Tootahah immediately complied,
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and this party recovered the men without any
opposition.

At the time the chiefs were set on shore from the ship,
those at the fort were also released, and after remaining with
Mr. Banks about an hour and a half they all returned to
their respective places of residence. When the deserters
were examined it was discovered that the account which
the Indians had given was no way false ; they had become
attached to women, and it was their design to keep them-
selves concealed till-the ship had set sail, and to continue
upon the island.

Tupia, who had been prime minister of Oberea, when she
was at the pinnacle of her authority, and was. also the
principal priest of the island, and, therefore, intimately
acquainted with the religion of the country, having often
testified a desire to go with them, on Wednesday the 12th,
in the morning, came on board, with a boy about twelve
years of age, his servant, named Taiyota, and requested
permission to sail with them. This was unanimously
agreed to. Tupia then went on shore, for the last time to
see his friends, and took with him several baubles, to give
as parting tokens of remembrance.

Thursday the 13th of July, the ship was visited by a
multitude of friends, and surrounded by numberless canoes,
which contained the 1nfer10r natives. They weighed anchor
about twelve, and the Indians took leave of the crew,
weeping in a friendly and affecting manner. Tupia sup-
ported himself in this scene with a becoming fortitude ;
tears flowed from his eyes, it is true, but the effort that he
made to conceal them did him additional honour. He went
with Mr. Banks to the mast head, where he continued
waving his hand to the canoes, as long as they remained
visible.

According to Tupia’s account, the island could furnish
above six thousand fighting men, whereby a computation
of the number of inhabitants may easily be made.

They have no European fruits, garden stuff, or pulse,
nor grain of any species, but many valuable vegetable pro-
ductions of their own. Their tame animals are hogs, dogs,
and poultry ; there 'is not a: wild animal in the island,
except ducks, pige